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THE PROBLEM AND ITS SOLUTION
State highwy departments and
transportation
agencies have a
continuing need to keep abreast
of operating practices and legal
elements of specific problems in
highway law.
This report is a
new paper which continues NCHRP's
policy of keeping departments up
to date on laws that will affect
their operations.
While it may seem unusual for
NCHRP to do a research project on
what is primarily criminal law, the
reader will learn it is relvant
to highway operations because it
can be used to prosecute bid rigging
contract performance, and billing

abuses under a highway construction
contract.
Further, while it is
primarily a criminal statute, it does
have a civil cause of action that
authorizes recovery of treble damages,
the cost of suit, and reasonable
attorney fees.
This paper will be published in a
future addendum to SSHL. Volumes 1
and 2 of SSHL, dealing primarily with
the law of eminent domain, were
published by the Transportation
Research Board in 1976. Volume 3,
dealing
with
contracts,
torts,
environmental and other areas of
highway law was published and distributed early in 1978. An expandable·
publication format was used to permit
future supplementation and the addition
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of new papers. The first addendum to
SSHL, consisting of 5 new papers and
supplements to 8 exisitng papers, was
issued in 1979; and a second addendum,
including 2 new papers and supplements
to 15 existing papers, was released
at the beginning of 1981. In December
1982, a third addendum, consisting of
8 new papers, 7 supplements, as well
as an expandable binder for Volume 4,
was issued.
In June 1988, NCHRP
published 14 new papers and 8 supplements and an index that incorporates
all the new papers and 8 supplements
that have been published since the
original publication in 1976, except
two new papers that will be published
when Volume 5 is issued in a year or
so. The text now totals some 4,400
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the original chapters, 79 papers, of
which 38 are published as supplements
and 29 are new papers in SSH L;
additionally, 7 supplements and 5 new
papers appear in the Legal Research
Digest series and will be published
in the SSHL in the near future.
Copies of SSHL have been sent, free
of charge, to
NCHRP sponsors,
other offices of State and Federal
governments, and selected university
and state law libraries.
The
officials receiving complimentary
copies in each state are: the Attorney
General and the Chief Counsel and
Right-of-Way Director of the highway
agency. Beyond this initial distribution, the volumes are for sale
through the publications office of
TRB at a cost cf $145.00 per set.
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Civil RICO Applications in the Highway Construction Industry

By Kathleen F. Brickey
George Alexander Madill Professor of Law
Washington University
St. Louis, Missouri
INTRODUCTION

As its title suggests, RICO-the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act-was enacted primarily to combat organiood crime.1
But to provide federal prosecutors wide latitude in using this new law
enforcement tool, Congress did not make organized crime the exclusive
~rget of RICO. Instead, Congress fashioned expansive liability provisions that make RICO applicable to numerous categories of white coilal'
crime as well. Because RICO prosecutions may be premised on white
collar offenses, such as bribery, conspiracy, and mail and wire fraud, the
statute can clearly be used to address abuses in the bidding, performance,
and billing of highway construction contracts.
Although RICO is primarily a criminal statute, Congress saw fit to
provide a private civil cause of action to anyone who has been injured
in his business or property by virtue of a RICO violation. The creation
of civil RICO liability has revolutionized the law governing business
disputes. In addition to providing a federal forum for commercial litigants ( including governmental entities), the civil RICO statute authorizes recovery of treble damages and the costs of suit, including
reasonable attorneys' fees. As if those were not sufficient inducements
to ~dd a RICO count to a civil complaint, plaintiff's lawyers justifiably
beh~ve that a RICO count provides a powerful incentive for reputable
busmess defendants to settle to avoid being publicly labeled racketeers.
Hence, a virtual explosion of civil RICO litigation.
Like other segments of the business community, the highway construction industry is affected by the increased use of criminal and civil RICO.
Between Octo~r 1, 1987, and March 1, 1988, for example, 19 individuals
and 2 corporations were indicted for racketeering, conspiracy, and fraud
in a Federal Highway Administration funded project as a result of a
federal grand jury investigation conducted jointly with the FBI and a
state inspector general's office. During the same period, a federal criminal
~vestigation and conviction of a highway inspection company, its principals, and a state employee led to a civil RICO suit against them to
recover damages allegedly suffered by reason of their extortion of federalaid funds from the state.
WHAT CIVIL RICO IS ALL ABOUT

The civil RICO provision, 18 U.S.C. § 1964( c ), is short and to the
point. It provides. that_ anyone wh_o is "injured in his business or property
by reason of a violation of section 1962 .... may sue therefor in any
appropriate United States district court and shall recover threefold the
damages he sustains and the cost of the suit, including a reasonable
attorney's fee. " 2

Apart from spelling out the requirement of injury to business or
property § 1964( c) does not identify the elements of the cause of action.
It requires, instead that the injury must be caused by a violation of
§ 1962, the criminal RICO provision. Thus to prove a civil RICO claim
the p~intiff must also establish a criminal RICO violation.
Section 1962 de.fines four discrete types of RIOO violations, each of
which is concerned with the relationship between a "person who is
engaged in a "pattern of racketeering activity ' and an "enterprise"
that affects interstate or foreign commerce. Section 1962( c ), for example,
forbids a " person' who is erriployed by or associated with an "enterprise from participating in the conduct of the affairs of the "enterprise ' through a pattern of racketeering activity.
Key Concepts

The Person and Enterprise Requirements
Section 1962 .requires that the wrongdoer must be a ' person. For
purposes of RICO liability, a "person ' can only be an individual or
entity capable of holding a legal or beneficial interest in property. Thus
only human beings and juristic persons are capable of violating the
statute.
Although there is obvious overlap between the two requirements enterprise' is a more fluid concept. An enterprise may be an individual
or a legal entity ( Le. a de jure enterprise). Thus, a corporation, partnership, or association could fill the role of the RICO enterprise even
though it is a wholly legitimate business.
But the term "enterprise- ' also encompasses "any union or group of
individuals associated in fact although not a legal entity' ( i.e., a de
facto enterprise). This prong of the definition has been broadly construed
to include such public entities as the Illinois Departmen of Transportation,3 the Office of the Tennessee Governor,' the Pennsylvania State
Senate,5 a state senator's oflice,6 and a Division of the Construction and
Building Department of Baltimore Housing and Community Development.7 An association of corporations or of businesses operated under
various forms of organization also may be a RICO enterprise.8
Although the enterprise mu t be engaged in interstate or foreign commerce or its activities must affect commerce only a minimal connection
need be shown .
.A was noted earlier, the "person and 'enterprise 'elements overlap.
A corporation, partnership or association could fill the role of either the
person o.r the enterprise. But a group of individuals as ociated in fact "
that is, not a legal entity, qualifies only as an enterprise because the
association is incapable of holding an intere t in property.9 Individual
members of the association are, of course, RICO per ons.l0
I11ustratio1l l: Corporation A, a cement supplier, and B, a governme.n t contracting
official, con.spire to rig bids 011 a highway contract. A and Bare both "persons" because
they are capable of holding a legal or beneficial interest in property. A a11d B may also
either individually or collectively constitute a.11 enterprise: illdividually, be.cause A is a

....

legal entity, and Bis an individua:I; collectively, because A al!ld Bare associated in fact
and the association is 11ot a legal <entity. But A and B as a collective entity cannot be
a person because they cannot, as an association, hold a legal or beneficial interest in
property.

As will be seen later, 11 the distinction between the person and enterprise
elements can be crucial.

Pattern of Racketeering A ,a tivity
RICO liability fo premised on .finding a pattern of racketeering activity.12 The racketeering activity requirement is, in reality a .requirement
~hat the defendant must have engaged in conduct that is criminal quite
mdependently of RICO's prohibitions. Thus, RICO violations are compound offenses. RICO requires proof of the commission of at least two
predicate crimes ( i.e., racketeering activity) plus the conduct that RICO
prohibits itself. Racketeering activity may consist of either federal or
state crimes.

Federal Predicate Crimes.-Among the many federal crimes that may
serve as RICO prE,dicate o:IIenses, bribery of public officials 13 and mail
and wire fraud 14 are the mo.st likely crimes to be named as racketeerinoactivity in a suit alleging highway contracting abuses. Hence thes~
'
offenses are considered brie1ly as follows:
1. Bribery. The federal bribery statute prohibits the corruption of
federal public officials 15 by offering or giving something of value to influence an official's decision or action ( the crime of bribery) or on account
of an official decision or action already taken ( the crime of gratuity ).16
The principal distinction between bribery and gratuity is that the crime
of bribery requires that the bribe giver or receiver must act" corruptly."
That is, the bribe must constitute a quid pro quo for a specified decision
or action. The bribe giver must have intended to influence the public
official's judgment or action or the public official must have solicited or
accepted the bribe in exchange for being influenced by the payment.
Gratuity, in contrast, merely requires that the party offering or making
the payment must have done so "for or because of any official act performed or to be performed" by the public official. Alternatively, gratuity
could be established by proving that the public official's solicitation or
acceptance of the payment was related to offieial action taken or to be
taken by him. Thus, gifts given to "create a better working atmosphere"
or in appreciation" for fa·rnrable action are illegal gratuities and are
prohibited. 17
Illustration 2: A, a transportatioil official, receives a Christmas gift from B, a frienci
who is pleased with A's decision t<J allocate highway construction funds to a project in
B's state. Without additional facts that link the gift to the decision, this is a social gift
and not a gratuity. But ifB attaches a note to the gift saying that the gift is in appreciation
for A's help in approving the badly needed construction project, the gift is related to
the official action and <:onstitutes 1;he crime of gratuity.

The bribery and gratuity provisions extend both to public officials who
presently serve and to thos,e who have been selected to serve as well.

Thus, congressmen, federal employees, nominees and those who have been
not~ed of their nomination a.re within the ambit of the tatute' protection. The statute also extends to any person acting for or on behalf
of" a federal departmen or agency in an official function .18 That has
le to a broad reading of the statute to include private inspectors charged
with assuring quality control on behalf of a govern.menta1 ageneyi 9 and
a (!Orporation and an employee authorized by a governmental agency to
conduct bidding for rnpairs of agency property.20
1~he seemingly limitless reach of the bribery statute to private sector
employees led the Supreme Court to consider the breadth of the term
"public official" in Di:-cson v. United States. 21 In Dixson, two executives
of a nonprofit corporation that was a subgrantee of federal block grants
were accused of soliciting bribes from contractors who worked on funded
projects. Although the executives had no formal bond with the federal
government, their salaries were pa:.d with grant money, and their responsibilities included selecting grant recipients and disbursing federal
funds.
A sharply divided Court rejected the argument that the executives
were not acting for or on behalf of the government in an official function
for purposes of the bribery statute. Rather than looking to a formalized
relationship with a government ageney, the Court concluded, the relevant
statutory inquiry is whether the executives occupied" a position of public
trust with official federal responsibilities. " 22 In assuming and discharging operational responsibilities for the grant program, they "assumed
the quintessential official role of administering a ... program established
by the United States Congress. " 23
2. Mail and Wire Fraud. The m1;.il fraud statute is one of the most
widely used federal criminal statutes. Although the statute contains three
separate clauses that define ways in which mail fraud may be committed,
the heart of the statute is its prohibition of the use of the mails for the
purpose of executing any scheme or artifice to defraud.24 The statute
does not define the term "defraud," and courts historically have viewed
thfa open-textured term to reach all conduct that is inconsistent with
"'moral uprightness [and] fundamental honesty, fair play and right
dealing in the general business life of members of society.' " 25
Until 1988, a mature body of mail fraud jurisprudence held that the
fraud need not relate to money or property. A scheme to defraud could
have as its object the deprivation of intangible rights, such as the right
of an employer to the honest and loyal services of his employee ( e.g., an
employee solicits kickbacks from a supplier, or a competitor bribes the
employee to act contrary to the employer's best interests ) 26 and the right
of the citizenry to the loyal and faithful services of its public officials
and employees ( e.g., B bribes A to approve the construction project ).27
But in 1988 the Supreme Court abruptly overturned what had been
the rule in every circuit that had considered the issue. In McNally v.
United States, 28 the Court held that a scheme to defraud another of
intangible rights is not a scheme to defraud under the mail fraud statute.
Instead, according to the Court, the statute requires the object of the
scheme to be deprivation of money or property.

Because McNally represented such an abrupt departure from familiar
ground, in the minds of some it raised issues that most knowledgeable
people had assumed were well settled. Principal among them was the
question whether a scheme to deprive another of intangible property, as
opposed to intangible rights, could be reached under the mail fraud
statute. If .A's competitor bribed .A's employee to disclose confidential
business information, for example, would that be a scheme to defraud
.A~ It would have been before McNally, 29 but afterward it was not entirely
clear.
The doubt on this point was short-lived, for early in its next term the
Court decided Carpenter v. United States, 30 the Wall Street Journal
insider trading case. Carpenter, who wrote a financial column for the
Wall Street Journal, was convicted of insider trading and mail fraud
in connection with a scheme to disclose the contents of his column prior
to its publication, for the purpose of trading or allowing others to trade
on it. Carpenter had been closely watched more for its potential to define
the contours of insider trading law than as an important mail fraud
precedent. But an evenly divided Supreme Court summarily affirmed
the insider trading conviction, thus giving this highly celebrated case
utterly no precedential value as an insider trading case. What proved
to be significant was the Court's affirmance of the mail fraud conviction
on the ground that confidential business information is property ( albeit
intangible) and that McNally had held that property ( as opposed to
rights) is protected by the mail fraud statute.31 Thus, the conviction
could stand.
Not long after that, Congress stepped in and quietly reinstated the
intangible rights theory by providing that for purposes of certain fraud
statutes, including the mail fraud statute, a scheme to defraud includes
a scheme to deprive another of the right to honest services.32 Thus,
disloyal employee and public corruption cases are now expressly within
the ambit of the mail fraud statute.33
To bring a scheme to defraud within the statute's reach, the defendant
must use or cause the use of the mails in furtherance of the scheme.
That does not mean, however, that the use of the mails must be central
to the scheme. Instead, it is sufficient that the mailing is "incident to an
essential part of [the] scheme." 34 Thus, the mailings may precede or
follow the fraudulent conduct,35 provided that they do not occur before
the scheme's inception and that the scheme has not come to an end.36 But
determining whether the mailings have the requisite connection to the
scheme to defraud is at best an inexact science.
lliustration 38: B, a su.bcont.ra.ctor that supplies cement, mails a padded bill to A, the
prime contractor. A mails B a check for the inflated amount. Upon receipt of the check,
B deposits it in the bank. The bank uses the mails to collect the check.
B has engaged in a scheme to defraud A in the amount by which the bill is inflated. B

used the mails to execute the scheme by mailing of the bill to A. B also caused A and
the bank to use the mails in furtherance of the scheme ( i.e., to collect the overstated
amount). Because billing th.e inflated amount, receiving the check, and collecting the
proceed£ of the cheek are all related to the esaence of the scheme, each of the three
mailings will support a separate mail fraud count against B.

Illustration 3b: After the events in Illustration 3a occur, B withdraws the amount of
A's check from its account and the bank mails Ba statement reflecting that transaction.
In the meantime, A reviews B's bill and becomes suspicious that the amount may be
overstated. A writes B and asks for an opportunity to review B's receipts and records
to be sure that the bill is correct. B writes back that a CPA has already audited the
account and determined that it was accurate.
The mailing of the bank statement occurs after B has received the proceeds of the check.
It is not incidental to an essential part of the scheme and thus does not support a mail
fraud count. Although the communication from B to A also occurs after B has achieved
the object of the scheme, the purpose of the letter is to lull A into a false sense of
security, thus preventing or delaying the detection of the fraud. Thus, the lulling letter
is incident to an essential part of the scheme ( i.e., getting away with the fraud) and
constitutes use of the mails in furtherance of the fraud.

In addition to providing examples of how mailings may be related to
the fraudulent scheme, Illustrations 3a and 3b also bring to bear two
additional important points. First, the content of the mailings need not
be fraudulent, immoral, or unlawful. In Illustration 3a, the check mailed
by .A and then by the bank was not fraudulent . .A was merely tricked
into making it payable for an inflated amount. Second, the party who
uses the mails in furtherance of the scheme need not be a party to the
fraud . .A was the victim of the fraud, yet .A's mailing of the check was
essential to the fruition of the scheme. The bank was neither a victim
nor a perpetrator of the fraud, yet its mailing of the check was also
essential to B's obtaining the padded amount.
Suppose that in Illustration 3b, B followed up the letter with a telephone call to assure .A that an audit had been performed and that the
bill was correct. In that event, it would be necessary to explore whether
the communication was interstate or intrastate. If interstate, it would
run afoul of the wire fraud statute, which prohibits using wire, radio,
or television transmissions in interstate or foreign commerce for the
purpose of executing a scheme to defraud.37 .As was true of B's letter
in Illustration 3b, the telephone call would be incidental to an essential
part of the scheme because it was made for the purpose of lulling A into
believing that everything had been checked out. Thus, the determinative
issue is whether the call was in interstate commerce . .Although a wholly
intrastate transmission would be insufficient,38 an intrastate call that,
unbeknownst to the caller, is routed outside the state is sufficient.39

State Predicate Crimes.-In contrast with the specificity with which
federal predicate crimes are enumerated as racketeering activity, state
predicate crimes are designated as " any act or threat involving" one of
eight categories of offenses that is "chargeable under State Law and
punishable by imprisonment for more than one year. " 40 Thus, three
elements must be present for a state crime to serve as a RICO predicate
offense: ( 1) it must involve a specified category of crime; ( 2) it must
be chargeable under state law; and ( 3) it must be punishable for more
than one year in prison.
For present purposes, bribery is the most notable state predicate crime.
Because the definition of bribery will vary from state to state, so, too,
will the substantive content of the RICO predicate crime depend on
where the conduct occurs.
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Bribery has historically !been defined as the "corrupt" payment or
receipt of something of valUle in exchange for official action. Because it
made the corrupt nature of the payment the touchstone of liability, this
definition contemplated that benefits conferred upon a public official could
be either corrupt or noncorrupt. The definition did not, however, specify
what would make an agreed upon exchange corrupt.
Faulting that approach for failing to provide meaningful guidance,4 1
the Model Penal Code attacks the problem head on and specifically identifies the prohibitedl official favor-e.g., a public servant's official decision,
opinion, recommendation, vote, or other exercisE, of discretion,42 thus
obviating the need to inquire whether the bribe giver or taker acted
"corruptly." Although the maj-Jrity of recently revised state bribery
statutes follow the lead of the Model Penal Code,43 many unrevised 44 and
a few newly revised statutes 45 still focus on the actor's corrupt purpose
rather than on specifically forbidden exchanges.46
So, too, may states choos1~ to label their bribery offenses differently.
But what the offense is called. is unimportant for purposes of designating
it as a RICO predicate crime, for the reference to bribery as a state
predicate offense is merely 2. generic designation.4 '7 The key criterion is
not how a uarticular state classifes the offense but is, instead, "whether
the particular state ... prohibits the ... activity charged. " 48 Thus, the
conduct must involve what is commonly recognized as bribery and must
be chargeable under state law-i.e., it must be a state crime. If those
two elements are present and the offense is punishable by imprisonment
for more than one year, the conduct may be designated as a RICO
predicate offense.
Illustration 4a: A, a highway contractor makes systematic: payments to B, a state
highway agency official., to obtain favorable treatment. The 11tate's bribery statute authorizes a 5-year prisoi1 sentence Jor accepting bribes, but only authorizes a sentence
not to exceed 1 year for giving bribes. In a civil RICO suit naming A as defendant, A's
bribe-giving to Bin violation of the state statute does not qualify as racketeering activity
because the authorized penalty is insufficient. In a civil RICO suit naming Bas defendant,
on the other hand, B's bribe-rec11iving in violation of the state statute qualifies as
racketeering activity.
Illustration 4b: Assume that in Ill.ustra.tion 4a a second stato statute defines the crim1i
of "corrupt solicitatioIL," an offense that may be committed offering money to publfo
officials with intent to i11fluence them in their performance of tl1eir official duties. Corrupt
solicitation is punishable by imprisonment for up to 2 years. Ill a civil RICO suit naming
A as defendant, A's bribe-giving to B in violation of the corrupt solicitation statute
qualifies as an offense involving bribery that is punishable for more than one year and
thus constitutes a predicate crime.••

Although it may not be iJnmediately apparent, the requirement that
conduct must be "chargeable" ~nd "punishable"' under state law has
little to do with whether the actor himself is amenable to state criminal
prosecution. It is the conduct, nd the actor who engages in the conduct,
that must be chargeable and punishable when the conduct occurs.50 Thus,
even if a civil RICO defendant cannot be tried and punished under state
law because he has previously been acquitted or because the state statute
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of limitations has run, the conduet itself may still be designated as
racketeering activity in a civil RICO suit.51
Similarly, if state law prohibits multiple prosecutions or punishments
fo:r two particular offenses, that serves as no barrier to naming those
offenses as RICO predicates because the state bar is procedural only.
The conduct nonetheless may have violated the statutes in question.52
Illustration 4c: A and B, highway construction companies, conspire to bribe C, a state
official, to obtain favorable treatment. Bribery and conspiracy are both punishable by
more than 1 year in prison. A state statute prohibits convicting any person of bribery
a.nil conspiring to commit the same bribery. Because A and B's conduct violates both
the, conspiracy statute and the bribery sta-:;ute, both offenses may be designated RICO
prudica tes.

"rhus far our consideration of bribery as a predicate crime has assumed
that a public official would be involved in the bribery. But what if
Company A bribes Company B and Company C to induce them to submit
complementary bids1 Commercial bribery is not a federal crime.53 But
because commercial bribery is a crime under the laws of some states,54
it may serve as a RICO predicate criJ:ne "involving bribery" if it satisfies
the "chargeable" and "punishable " requirements.
As a final note, although bribery is the principal state predicate criJ:ne,
RICO designates an11 act involving bribery as racketeering activity.
Hence, in Illustration 4c above, the conspiracy to bribe could also serve
as a state predicate crime.

Imputing Predicate Crimes to Business Organizations.-The principles under which crimes may be attributed to corporations and other
business organizations may vary, depending on whether federal or state
predicate crimes are alleged.
:8'ederal criJ:ninal liability for entities is premised upon a broad respo:udeat superior rule. Under federal law, a corporation is liable for
criminal acts committed by an agent who is acting within the scope of
his employment and on behalf of the entity.55 This rule obtains regardless
of the agent's status within the corp-)rate hierarchy. As long as the agent
commits the criJ:ne in connection witl: the performance of some job-related
activity, the corporation is liable, whether the agent is a subordinate
employee or an officer of the company. Thus, whenever an organization
is charged with engaging in a pattern of federal prt=ldicate crimes, there
are few impediments to attributing the acts and intent of its agents to
the entity.
rrhe state law rules governing attribution of criminal conduct to corpoimtions vary widely from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. Some states
endeavor to follow a more restrictive rule like that in the Model Penal
Code, which limits corporate liability for true crimes to instances in
which the board of directors or a high managerial agent authorized,
commanded, or recklessly tolerated the wrongful conduct,56 while others
follow the broader respondeat superior rule.57
lN"h.ether the amenability of a corporation to prosecution for a state
predicate crime controls the determination that the crime is" chargeable"
under state law is not entirely free from doubt. On the one hand, in

noncorporate settings courts emphasize that the reference to state law
is definitional only .58 It is the conduct, not the particular defendant,

that must be chargeable under state law.59 Thus, a procedural bar to
prosecuting the defendant under state law would not prevent the conduct
from being characterized as a violation of state law.
But while RICO does not incorporate state procedural defenses, it
does incorporate state substantive defenses.60 The RICO indictment must
allege, and the government must prove, that all of the elements of the
predicate offense were present. If the indictment fails to allege, or the
government fails to prove, that the requisite corporate agent did not
authorize, command, or commit the wrongful acts, the corporation has
a substantive, not a procedural, defense. Thus, it could be argued that
if under state law a corporation could not be charged absent managerial
complicity, then, as to the corporation, the state predicate crime was
never chargeable unless that element was present.

The Pattern Requirement.-The presence of multiple predicate
crimes is, standing alone, insufficient. They must, instead form a pattern
of racketeering activity. The 'pattern" requirement remains among the
most troublesome of the elements of a RICO violation, in large measure
because Congress provided an open-textual definition of the term. A
"pattern" of racketeering activity requires at least two acts of racketeering ( i.e., two or more predicate crimes) that have been committed
within 10 years of one another. This skeletal definition states the minimum requirements for finding a pattern. It informs us what a pattern
requires, but not what pattern is-hence, a continuing endeavor to infuse
substantive content into the pattern concept.
The Supreme Couri supplied its first hint of what a pattern should
be in what was to become the infamous footnote 14 Sedima, S.P.R.L. v.
Imrex. 61 In Sedima, the Court said that the predicate acts comprising
the pattern of racketeering activity could not be isolated. They must,
instead bear a relationship that evidences continuity. And while the
statutory definition requires at least two acts "in common pa:rlance two
of anything do not generally form a pattern. " 62
Footnote 14 has since been cited in support of every imaginable proposition. Most bizarre among them was the Eighth Circuit's view that a
single continuing fraudulent scheme could not constitute a pattern of
racketeering activity without proof of similar wrongdoing in the past
or of other criminal activity elsewhere.63 In essence, the Eighth Circuit
view required proof of multiple criminal schemes in most cases. The
Eighth Circuit holding spawned such disagreement among the circuits
that it became impossible to summarize the state of the law. That development, of course, invited Supreme Court scrutiny.
The Court accepted the challenge of unravelling the puzzle in H.J. Inc.
v. Northwestern Bell Telephone Company, 64 an Eighth Circuit case
that had been dismissed because only one criminal scheme was alleged.
The complaint alleged that Northwestern Bell bribed members of the
Minnesota Public Utilities Commission ( MPUC) over a 6-year period
for the purpose of inducing them to approve excessive rates for the
company.

Alt~ough the Court reje_cted the suggestion that a pattern could be
es~bhshe~ m~r~ly by ~rovrng two predicate crimes, it also rejected the
Eighth Circuit s requirement that a pattern of racketeering activity
requires. separa~e illegal schemes. Instead, the Court wrote, the pattern
concept is sufficiently broad and :flexible to encompass "multiple predicates within a single scheme that were related and that amounted to or
threatened the likelihood of, ·continued criminal activity. " 65
'
~h~ ~?urt observed that the definition_ o~ "pattern of racketeering
ac~ivity expressly addresses only the mrnunum number of predicate
crrmes but "assumes" that something more is required.66 Looking to the
'.'ordinary". meaning of the _term pattern, the Court found that a pattern
lS characterized by an orderrng or arrangement that links the constituent
parts of a whole. The ordering principles the Court found appropriate
for a RI~O pa!tern wer_e, as previously articulated in Sedima, continuity
and relat10~hip. That IS, the predicate crimes must be related, and they
must constitute or threaten continued criminal activity.
The Court noted that although the proof of continuity and relationship
will often overlap, for analytical purposes the two elements should be
stated separately. Finding the relatedness element the simplest of the
two, the Court drew upon Title X of the Organized Crime Control Act
which provides for enhanced sentences for certain offenders who hav~
previously committed a felony as part of a pattern of criminal conduct.
Unlike RICO, Title X defines the term "pattern" in qualitative rather
than quantitative terms, and the definition emphasizes the relationship
between criminal acts.
The Title X pattern requirement is satisfied if the criminal conduct
"em?~aces c~~al acts that have the same or similar purposes, results,
participants, victrms, or methods of commission, or otherwise are interrelated by distinguishing characteristics and are not isolated events. " 67
Finding no evidence that Congress intended a more restrictive relationship requirement for a RICO pattern, the Court was satisfied that the
Title X definition provided sufficient guidance on the RICO relatedness
element.
Turning next to the continuity requirement, the Court observed that
because continuity or threat of continuing activity may be proved in so
many ways, it is difficult to generalize or to formulate an abstract test.
But the Court went on to state that continuity is essentially a temporal
concept that is both closed- and open-ended.
It is closed-ended in that continuity may be established over a closed
period of time through proof that related crimes were committed over
a substantial period of time. Thus, according to the Court, the evidence
~ust establish long-term criminal conduct, not conduct that occurs durrng a period of a few weeks or months and that does not threaten future
criminal activity .68 A hoodlum, who sells vandalism "insurance" to
neighb~rhood shopkeep~rs and ~ho promises to collect monthly payments
to contrnue the protect10n, specifically threatens indefinite repetition of
~he ext~rtio~ate acts. Similarly, a legitimate business that commits predicate_ crunes rn the normal course of business would satisfy the continuity
requirement.
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Applying this analysis to the facts of the case, the Court concluded
that the civil complaint was rmfficient to allege a RICO pattern under
several alternative theories. First, all of the predicate crimes were bribes
given for the common objective of influencing MPUC members in the
conduct of their official duties, and the bribes were allegedly paid with
some frequency over a 6-year :period of time. If proven, those allegations
would establish continuity. S,econd, if proven, the allegations could establish a threat of continued rackewering activity if the evidence showed
that Northwestern Bell regularly conducted its business by paying bribes
or that Bell's payment of bribes was a form of participation in the
conduct of MPUC, a RICO enterprise. Thus, the complaint should be
reinstated.
Whether the Court's refinement of its thinking on the pattern requirement will reduce the confusion and conflict in the lower courts remains
to be seen. At least three members of the Court thought not.
In a strongly worded concurring opinion, Justice Scalia found the
continuity plus relationship test "about as helpful ... as 'life is a fountain. ' " 69 After taking his collleagues to task for ig:noring settled rules
of statutory construction by borrowing the Title X definition, Justice
Scalia further found the borrowed definition itself was vague. Would
predicate crimes be sufficiently· related, he wondered, if all of the victims
were the same gender1 If all of the erimes were committed for the purpose
of enriching the defendanU Or if all of the others who participated in
the unlawful conduct were co-employees'1 Justice Scalia complained that
the statutory definition relied upon by the Court provided precious little
guidance on these matters.
Likewise, Justice Scalia found the continuity analysis flawed. If the
unlawful conduct "does not last too long," he posited, the continuity
requirement provides a safe harb-Jr for the first few months of racketeering activity. If the Court's hypothetical hoodlum had committed extortion in eight different cities on eight consecutive days and then
disbanded, for example, that would not constitute a RICO pattern because there is no threat of future criminal activity.
But Justice Scalia acknowliedged that it would be hard to provide more
specific guidance on what com;titutes a RICO pattern because the statute
itself is so vague. Thus, although the RICO pattern r equirement was
not challenged as being void for vagueness in this case, J ustice S calia
virtually invited a constitutional challenge by observing that the Com't's
inability to provide more t.ha:n "meager guidance bodes ill for the day
when that challenge is presented. " 70
Substantive RICO Violations

Although § 1962 defines four distinct ways in which RICO may be
violated, each species of violation requires proof of all of the key concepts
discussed earlier. 'l'hus, the hea:rt of the substantive violation is the
interrelationship between these various concepts.

Section 1962(c)
The vast majority of civil HICO actions are brought under § 1962( c ).
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That section makes it unlawful for ::.ny person who is employed by or
asso,~iated with a RICO enterprise "to conduct or participate, directly
or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise's affairs through a pattern
of racketeering activity." Thus, in addition to the key concepts discussed
abo.-e, a § 1962( c) violation requires proof of two additional elements:
( 1) a person employed by or associated with an enterprise, who; ( 2)
conducts or participates in the conduct of the affairs of the enterprise.

Airson Employed by or Associated with an Enterprise.-Because
the term "person" is defined to inc~ude both individuals and entities
capable of holding a beneficial interest in property,71 both natural and
juristic persons may be designated as the person who engages in the
prohibited conduct. But the requirement that the person must be employed by or associated with the enterprise is a limiting element with
respect to identifying the person and the enterprise. The overwhelming
majority of circuits have ruled that under§ 1963, the "person" and the
"enterprise" must have separate identities because of the conceptual
difficulty of holding that an enterprise may be employed by or associated
with itself.72 Thus, the eomplaint may not identify the defendant as both
the person who commits the offense and the enterprise through which it
is committed.
Although the Seventh Circuit subscribes to that position, it has carved
out two narrow exceptions: ( 1) a subsidiary ( the person) may conduct
the affairs of the parent corporation ( the entity) in violation of
§ 19132( c ); 73 and ( 2) a sole proprietor ( the person) may associate with
his sole proprietorship ( the enterprise) if the proprietorship has other
emp1oyees and is thus practically separate from the proprietor.74
Illustration 5a: A, the president of a contracting corporation, regularly pays bribes to
B, the head of a state highway transportation department, for the purpose of obtaining
favorable treatment. Because A is employed by the corporation, A can be designated
the 11,erson and the corporation the enterprise in a civil RICO suit. Because the person
and the enterprise must be separate and distinct, the corporaticon may not be designated
as both the person and the enterprise.
Illustration 5b: The same facts as in Illustration 5a. Because A is associated with the
highway transportation department, A can be designated the person and the department
the enterprise in a civil RICO suit.

Note that by naming A as the person in Illustrations 5a and 5b, .A
has been identified as the wrongdoer and, hence, will be the RICO defendant. But that result fails to reach the corporation's deep pocket.
Since the corporation is named as the enterprise in Illustration 5a, respondeat superior princ:iples may not be used to impute A's liability to
the ,corporation in a § 1962( c) suit because that provision requires that
the person and the enterprise must be separate and distinct.75 But the
corporation could be made a defendant in Illustration 5b, directly, by
naming the corporation as a person associated with the highway transportation department or, perhaps, indirectly by imputing A's wrongful
acts to the corporate entity.
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Conducting or Participating in the Conduct of-To violate
§ 1962( c ), the person must conduct or participate, directly or indirectly,
in the conduct of the affairs of the enterprise through a pattern of
racketeering activity. Under the majority view, the racketeering activity
may, but need not, advance the interests of the enterprise for the affairs
of the enterprise to be conducted "through" a pattern of criminal conduct.76 Thus, when a legitimate enterprise is used as a cover for unrelated
racketeering activity 77 or the activity actually harms the enterprise,78
the requisite relationship between the racketeering activity and the enterprise may still be present.
Illustration 6a: A, the president of a highway construction company, routinely pays
bribes to B, a federal highway contracting official, to obtain favorable treatment for the
company. A participates in the conduct of the company's affairs through a pattern of
criminal conduct that advances the interests of the company.
Illustration 6b: A, the owner of a construction company that does legitimate business
with the state, also uses the company as a front for selling cocaine. Because most of the
drug deals are consummated over the company's telephone, A uses code words like
"competitive bidding," "cost-plus," "no bid," "asphalt," "concrete," and other terms
used in the conduct of the construction business. A has participated in the conduct of
the company's affairs through his unlawful drug activity.
Illustration 6c: A, the treasurer of a construction company, keeps a double set of books.
The first set, which A keeps at home, accurately reflects the amount the company has
billed and received for its services. The second "official" set, understates those figures
by 2 percent, the amount that A systematically embezzles from the company. A has
participated in the conduct of the company's affairs through his criminal conduct.

The Fifth Circuit has adopted a three-part test for determining
whether the necessary relationship exists between the racketeering activity and the enterprise: ( 1) the defendant must have engaged in racketeering activity; ( 2) the defendant's position in or affiliation with the
enterprise must have facilitated the racketeering activity; and ( 3) the
racketeering activity must have affected the enterprise.79 The activity
need not have a beneficial effect, however, so long as it affects the enterprise "in some fashion. " 80 Thus, [t]he effect may be direct, such as the
deposit of money in the enterprise's bank account, or indirect, such as
the retention of the enterprises's existing clients. " 81
Because § 1962( c) encompasses indirect participation in the enterprise's affairs, it is unnecessary that the actor must have participated
in the management or operation of the enterprise.82
Illustration 6d: In Illustration 6a, A is also associated with the state highway office
and, through the regular payment of bribes, has participated indirectly in the affairs of
the office (an enterprise). A's conduct has had an effect on the office in that contracts
are let corruptly rather than on the merits.
Illustration 6e: In Illustration 6b, B, who is not on the company's payroll, is A's partner
in the cocaine business. By prearrangement B regularly calls A's office and A, through
the contracting-related code words, instructs B regarding the amount of cocaine to sell
to whom and for what price. B has participated indirectly in the use of the company
( the enterprise) as a front for the drug business.

Section 1962(b).-.A. § 1962( b) violation is committed by acquiring or
maintaining any interest in or control of an enterprise through a pattern
of racketeering activity. Thus, like § 1962( c ), § 1962( b) requires, in
addition to the key concepts discussed above, proof of two additional
elements.
Illustration 7a: A, high ranking employee of a construction company, for years accepts
bribes from B, the president of a supplier, to award overpriced supply contracts to B's
company, which becomes dependent on the business. A first solicited the bribes with
the intention of later threatening to discontinue the practice unless B arranged for A
to be selected as a director on the board of B's company. The plan succeeds. Although
A does not dominate B's company, A has acquired some control over it through his
pattern of bribery.
Illustration 7b: A, the chief financial officer of a highway contractor, is utterly incompetent. But A has been able to retain his position because he mails false financial
statements to the stockholders. A has maintained control over the business through his
unlawful conduct.
Illustration 7c: Under the facts of illustration 7a, A's scheme is not to be named to the
board of directors but is, instead, to obtain 5 percent of the stock in company B. If the
plan succeeds, A has acquired an interest in an enterprise through a pattern of illegal
conduct.

.At least two circuits have held that, contrary to the § 1962( c) requirement that the enterprise and the person may not be the same, § 1962( b)
does not require that they be distinct.83
Illustration 7d: Corporation A mails false financial statements that make the company's
financial picture look grim and manipulates stock prices to induce investors to sell. In
reality, the company is financially healthy and is about to receive a lucrative government
contract that will boost the price of the stock. The Corporation has instructed its brokers
to buy every share that they can. The Corporation ( a person) has acquired an interest
in itself ( an enterprise) through mail fraud and stock fraud.

Section 1962(a).-.A.ctions alleging a violation of§ 1962(a) focus on
the investment of illegally gotten gains to acquire an interest in or to
establish or operate a RICO enterprise. In addition to the five key concepts that are common to all RICO actions, the § 1962( a) suit requires
three additional elements: ( 1) receipt of proceeds of racketeering activity; ( 2) investment of all or part of those proceeds; ( 3) for the purpose
of acquiring an interest in or to establish or operate an enterprise. Both
the receipt of racketeering income and its investment to achieve the object
stated in ( 3) may be either direct or indirect.
Section 1962( a) expressly exempts some purchases of securities in the
open market. Exempted from the reach of this provision are purchases
on the open market that are made for investment purposes only-not
for purposes of obtaining control of the issuer-provided that the
amount held by the purchaser, his accomplices, and his immediate family
equals less than 1 percent of the outstanding securities of any one class
and does not confer the power to elect a director of the issuer.
.As is true under § 1962( b ), courts that have considered the point have
held that the enterprise and the person may be the same.84

Section 1962(d). --Next to 1) 1962( c ), § 1962( d) ranks among the most
important of the RICO theories of liability. Tne wording of § 1962( d)
is simple: "It shall be unlawful fo::- any person to conspire to violate any
of the provisions of subsections (a), ( b ), or ( c) of this section." Thus,
to state a subsection ( d) cause of action, it is necessary to allege a
conspiracy that has as its object the violation of one of the other subsections. Alleging the conspiracy, however, is not as simple as it might
first seem.
Although the Fifth Circuit caused considerable confusion by coining
the term "enterprise conspiracy," 85 the enterprise and conspiracy elements must be kept separate and distinct. The enterprise is an entity.
The conspiracy is an agreement that relates to the entity.
The principal difficulty with the conspiracy allegation, like so many
problematic elements in the RICO scheme of liability, is definitional. The
statute does not define what it means by "conspiracy. " Although there
seems to be little disagreement that conspiracy requires an agreement
between two or more persorn,, there is considerable disagreement over
just what the conspirators must agree to and what, if anything, they
must do.
1. General Conspiracy LaVI~. Under general federal conspiracy law, a
conspiracy is an agreement, ta.cit or express, between two or more persons
to achieve an unlawful goal. To become a member of a conspiracy, one
need only know the general nature of the conspiracy and its purpose and
be a knowing participant in iit. Because each conspirator's participation
must be for the purpose of advancing the goals of the conspiracy, each
conspirator must also possess the culpable mental state required by the
object offense.
Illustration Ba: A and :El, both high·way contractors, agree to give a generous Christmas
gift to C, a governmental official, on the condition that C approv1is a lucrative construction
contract under which A and B would profit handsomely. A and B have conspired to
commit bribery. Both A and B have the corrupt motive needed to commit bribery.

2. Wharton' R ule. One generally recognized limitation on conspiracy
liability is known as "Wharton's rule. Simply stated, when a conspiracy
has as its object an offense that itself requires a plurality of parties,
Wharton's rule precludes pr,osecuting the necessary participants in the
object offense for conspiracy unless the conspiracy includes an extra
" third party. " 86
Illustration Bb: In Illustration Sa, A and C agree that C will approve the lucrative
project on condition tha,t A provid,is C with a large cash gift. Because this agreement
includes only the necessary participants for the crime of bribery ( i.e., a bribe giver and
a bribe receiver), A and C have Mt conspired to bribe C. If, on the other hand, A, B
and C all agree to the plan, all three have conspired to commit bribery.

Although conspiracy is not itself a R I CO predicate crime. these principles have two potentially powerful applications in a civil RICO action.
First, recall that state predicate crimes are offenses involving desig-·
nated generic categories of crimes, including bribery, that are chargeable

under state law. It seems logical that a conspiracy to commit bribery
wou1d satisfy that requirement. But bis backdoor approach should work
only if the agreement d.oes not run afoul of Wharton's rule.
And second, although it is by no means a foregone conclusion, these
principles could arguably serve to limit actions brought under § 1962( d ).
If, for example, A and C above are eharged with conspiring to violate
RICO through a pattern of racketeering activity ( i.e., by bribing C ), it
is possible, but by no means certain, that Wharton's rule might defeat
that conspiracy theory.
3. Overt Act. One of the clearest cd controversies about the contours
of RICO conspiracy law is whether RICO conspiracies require an overt
act. When conspiracy ,.tatutes require an overt act, that simply means
that at least one of the conspirators must have committed some act in
furtherance of the scheme. But the act need not be unlawful in itself.
It need only provide some evidence that the conspiracy is at work.
Illustration Be: B and C conspire tu bribe A to get A to appro·ve a highway project in
B's state. B telephones A to a.rrange a meeting at which B plans to sound out A's feelings
about: the project. The telephone call is an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

While the First, Second, Sixth, and Ninth Circuits state that an overt
act is not an element of a RICO conspiracy,87 the Fourth and Fifth
Circuits-and an errant Eleventh Circuit opinion as well-suggest that
an overt act is required. 88 Section 1962( d) is, predictably, silent on the
point.
This dispute undoubtedly springs from the inconsistent treatment federal law accords conspiracies. Although some federal conspiracy statutes
( including the general conspiracy statute) expressly require an overt
act,8" others ( including the major drug conspiracy provisions ) do not
express such a requirement. 9° Courts construing the latter category of
statutes in non-RICO contexts consistently follow the long settled common-,law rule that no overt act is req·.iired.91
Wny an overt act requirement sho:.1ld be grafted onto the RlUO conspiracy provision is not readily apparent. The overt act requirement is
an exception to the common-law rule that an agreement, standing alone,
is sufficient. Thus, it is almost invariably a requirement imposed by
express statutory language. As the Supreme Court wrote in a comparable
context: "[W]here Congress borrows terms Qf art in which are accumulated the legal tradition and meaning of centuries of practice, it
presumably knows and adopts the cluster of ideas that were attached to
each borrowed word in the body of learning for which it was taken and
the meaning its use will convey to the judicial mind unless otherwise
inst:ructed. In such a case, absence of contrary direction may be taken
as satisfaction with widely accepted definitions, not as a departure from
them. " 92
4. RJOO Agreement~. A second controversy over the RICO conspiracy
pro,'1.Sion relates to the substance of the conspiratorial agreement. A
minority of courts hav•~ articulated a requirement that each member of
the conspiracy must agree to personally commit predicate crimes,93 while
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the majority have found that far less will suffice.94 Under the majority
view, it is sufficient that the members of the conspiracy agree to the
commission of predicate acts as part of a RICO violation by someone.
That view is consistent with the common-law rule that members of the
conspiracy need only agree to the commission of the object offense, not
that each member must agree to personally participate in its commission.95
Notwithstanding these critical disagreements over a critical theory of
RICO liability, the Supreme Court has refused to grant certiorari to
resolve the conflict, once over a short but vigorous dissent registered by
Justice White. 96
Standing

The standing requirements for a civil RICO action are relatively few
in number. The statute confers a cause of action upon any person: ( 1)
who has been injured in his business or property; ( 2) by reason of; ( 3)
a RICO violation. That is not to say, however, that the standing issue
has provided less grist for the litigation mill than other controversial
requirements discussed above.
First, there is the question of what constitutes injury to business or
property. Before the Supreme Court addressed this question in 1985,
the law was in a state of disarray. Some courts held that an ill-defined
( and undefinable) special" racketeering injury" ( i.e., an injury different
from the harm caused by individual predicate crimes) was required.
Other courts held that a "competitive injury" was required. Still others
declined to hold that any special type of injury-apart from one to
business or property-was required.
The Supreme Court tidied up the mess in Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex
Co., flatly rejecting any special racketeering injury requirement.97 The
"essence" of a civil RICO violation, according to the Court, "is the
harm caused by predicate acts sufficiently related to constitute a pattin·n. " 98 That is the harm that the injury to business or property requirement was designed to address, in the Court's view.
In the course of considering what kind of injury will confer standing,
the Court in Sedima also indirectly addressed the second standing requirement, namely that the injury must be "by reason of" a RICO
violation. In the passage quoted in the preceding paragraph, the Court
made clear that the injury must be causally related to the violation. The
harm must "flow from" the predicate acts.99 In a footnote explanation
the Court reiterated that compensable harms are harms "proximately
caused" by the wrongful conduct. 100 Thus, harms that are directly caused
by the violation and harms that "ultimately and indirectly" flow from
the violation are compensable. 101
Illustration 9a: A, a highway contractor, regularly bribes B, a state highway transportation official, to induce B to award contracts to A rather than to C, a competitor. The
bribes are related and constitute a pattern. B routinely awards the contracts to A, when
C would otherwise have received some or all of them.
C's business has been directly injured by reason of the pattern of bribes.

Illustration 9b: In Illustration 9a, the bank refuses to extend C additional credit because
of C's lagging business with the state. C has suffered another injury to his business,
this harm flowing more indirectly from B's pattern of racketeering activity .

Note that in Illustration 9b C's indirect injury was in addition to a
direct injury. The Court in Sedima did not directly address the question
where one whose only injury is indirect has a RICO cause of action. On
that question there is a conflict in the circuits, with the Fifth Circuit
holding that indirect injury, standing alone, is insufficient,1°2 and the
Eighth Circuit holding that the direct/indirect distinction is irrelevant
to the standing issue. 103
The third standing requirement, the existence of a RICO violation,
briefly occupied the limelight when the Second Circuit held that the civil
RICO defendant must have been convicted of a RICO violation before
a cause of action would lie.104 The Court in Sedima quickly dispensed
with that issue. Support for a prior criminal conviction requirement
could be found in neither the text of the statute nor its legislative history.
To the contrary, the statute requires a RICO "violation," which simply
means that it must be shown that the defendant failed to comply with
the requirements of the law.105
Two spinoffs of the direct/indirect injury debate are worth noting.
First, if a corporation is injured by a RICO violation, the cause of action
belongs to the corporation, not to the shareholders. Thus, the shareholders
may sue only in a derivative action, not in their individual capacities.106
Similarly, a governmental entity that is injured by reason of a RICO
violation has a RICO cause of action in its own right. 107 It does not,
however, have standing to sue in a representative capacity to recover
damages to its citizens in a civil RICO suit. 108
Pleading and Proof

A civil RICO complaint must plead all elements of a RICO cause of
action with sufficient particularity to comply with the Federal Rules of
Federal Procedure notice pleading requirements. Thus, a civil RICO
complaint must allege: ( 1) all of the elements of a § 1962 violation; ( 2)
all of the elements of the predicate crimes that comprise the racketeering
::ctivity; and ( 3) an injury to business or property caused by the violation.
In suits premised upon species of fraud ( e.g., mail or wire fraud),
the fraud must be pled in accordance with Civil Rule 9( b ), which requires
that the circumstances of the fraud must be stated with particularity,
including "the time, place and contents of false representations, as well
as the identity of the person making the misrepresentation and what
was obtained or given up thereby."
The statute does not specify what burden of proof a civil RICO plaintiff
must satisfy. Although it is generally accepted that proof by a preponderance of the evidence is sufficient,1°9 the Second Circuit has suggested
the possibility of requiring clear and convincing evidence of the criminal
conduct elements of the cause of action, while settling for proof of the
other elements of the claim by a preponderance of the evidence.110

The Supreme Court did not resolve the issue in Sedima, but it did
express strong doubts that RICO plaintiffs should be required to satisfy
a higher burden of proof with respect to the predicate crimes. The Court
observed that in numerous other contexts criminal conduct may be proved
by a preponderance of the evidence in a civil action, and found "no
evidence that Congress sought fo depart that general principle here. " 111
Since then, the Third, Seventh and Ninth Circuits have reaffirmed that
the plaintiff may prove all o:f the elements of a civil RICO cause of action
by a preponderance of the ,evidence.112
As one would expect, collateral estoppel pri!lcipies apply to civil RICO
actions. Thus, if the same facts have been previously litigated in a state
court action 113 or if the defendant has previously been convicted of the
predicate crimes upon which the civil RICO action is based,114 collateral
estoppel precludes relitigat:ing those same issues in a civil RICO suit.
Damages, Costs, andl Attorneys' Fees

The most compelling reason civil litigants find :for including civil RICO
counts in their complaints i1; RICO's liberal remedies provision. A RICO
plaintiff who establishes an injury to business or property that is caused
by a RICO violation "shall recover" treble damages. 115 In addition, a
prevailing RICO plaintiff i~ also entitled to recover "the cost of the suit,
including a reasonable attorney's fee. " 116
The provision for recovery of attorneys' fees has produced two notable
decisions, one dealing with plaintiffs who pre,ail through settlement, the
other dealing with plaintiff8 who pursue related claims that derive from
a common fact pattern.
In Aetna Casualty & Surety Company 'IJ. Leibowitz, 117 the Second
Circuit held that plaintiffs who negotiate a settlement of their civil RICO
claims rather than prosecuting them to judgment are not entitled to
recover attorneys'' fees. The court based its conclusion on a long line of
decisional law under an identical remedy provision contained in the
Clayton Act. 118 When Congress borrowed the Clayton Act language and
incorporated it into RICO, it was well settled that attorneys' fees could
be recovered only by plaintiffs who were awarded damages at the conclusion of trial-not, as her,a, by those who oh:;ain preliminary injunctive
relief and then settle through negotiation. The court reasoned that if
Congress had intended a different result under RICO, it would not have
borrowed the Clayton Act language verbatim.
In Abell v. Potomac Insurance Company, 119 the Fifth Circuit addressed the question of how to treat plaintiff;; who successfully pursue
related RICO, federal securities law, and state fraud claims. Following
the rule that it invokes in other contexts in which attorneys' fee awards
are authorized, the court held that fees incurred for work on all of the
related claims are allowable. 120
Notwithstanding the powerful incentive that RICO's remedial policy
provides, potential RICO litigants would be well advised to exercise
restraint. Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure authorizes
judicial imposition of monetary Eanctions against those who pursue frivolous claims. Those sanctions may include awarding attorneys' fees to

numerous opposing parties who are represented by numerous opposing
counsel 121 and the awarding of double costs.122 Federal courts, impatient
with apparently frivolous civil RICO claims, are resorting to Rule 11
sanctions with ever increasing regularity. 123
Limitation of Actions

'rhe civil RICO statute does not specify what statute of limitations
goYerns a civil RICO cause of action. Typically, when no period of
limitations is provided for a federal cause of action, federal law governs
when the cause of action accrues ( i.e., when the plaintiff knew or should
have known of the injury ) 124 and scate law governs the duration of the
limitations period ( i.e., courts borrow the most closely analogous state
statute of limitations ).125 Predictably, a split of authority developed with
respect to how the courts should de-:ermine what the appropriate period
of limitations is. Although most courts made particularized decisions
based on the facts and circumstances of each case,1 26 the Third and
Seventh Circuits broke rank in 1986 and held that all civil RICO actions
within a particular jurisdiction sho·.1ld be governed by a uniform period
of limitations. 127
In resolving this conflict, the Supreme Court took an unprecedented
course of action and borrowed a federal statute of limitations to goYern
civil RICO actions. 128 Finding in the Clayton Act a closer analogy to
civil RICO than any state statutes that had been considered by the lower
courts, the high Court borrowed the Clayton Act's 4-year limitations
pe:riod. Hence, a civil RICO cause of action must be brought within 4years of the time when the plaintiff discovers or should have discovered
the injury.
Jurisdiction

One notable point on which the civil RICO statute is utterly silent is
that of jurisdiction. Although it is clear that the statute creates a federal
cause of action, whether federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction over
civil RICO suits is not clea:r. This critical question produced more than
a dozen conflicting decisions in federal and state courts. 129
JB:arly in its 1989 term, the Supreme Court held in Taffiin v. Levitt 130
that state courts have concurrent jurisdiction over civil RICO claims.
In our system of dual sovereignty, state courts are presumptively competent to adjudicate claims arising under federal law. That presumption
can be rebutted "'by an explicit statutory directive, by unmistakable
implication from legislative history, or by a clear incompatibility between
state-court jurisdiction and federal interests.' " 131 But here the Court
could find nothing in RICO or its legislative history that would support
a conclusion that recognition of concurrent state court jurisdiction w0uld
be inconsistent with congressional purpose.
Arbitration

'J~he Federal Arbitration Act establishes a "federal policy favoring
arbitration" 132 and directs federal district courts to "rigorously e11-
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force" arbitration agreements. 133 Thus, absent a contrary congressional
directive, the policy favoring arbitration extends to resolution of many
types of disputes, including those involving federal statutory rights.
Until 1987, the circuit courts of appeal were in conflict on the question
whether this policy applied to agreements to arbitrate disputes arising
under RICO. Then, in Shearson/American Express v. McMahon, 134 the
Supreme Court held that agreements to arbitrate claims that implicated
a RICO cause of action are indeed enforceable. The Court could find no
congressional intent expressed in either the statute or its legislative
history to override the strong federal policy favoring arbitration of
disputes.
COLLUSIVE BIDDING PRACTICES IN THE HIGHWAY CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY
The Bidding Process

For purposes of civil RICO liability, the highway construction bidding
process is highly vulnerable. The bidding process generally follows along
these lines. After initial plans are drawn up, the state highway department engineer prepares an estimate of the cost of various components
of the project ( such as grading, underlay, paving and bridge construction) and of the total cost of the project. A total estimated contract price
is then determined by adding to the total project cost what is thought
to be a reasonable profit margin. At that point the state will set an
"overbid" price that represents the point at which bids will be rejected.135
The state then advertises the project and invites bids within a designated
period of time. 136

profit needs. 140 In either event the firms normally remain profitable without engaging in competitive behavior, and the winning firm receives an
amount that is not correlated to projected legitimate costs.141
A second collusive bidding practice, well known to the highway construction industry, allocates a specified territory to each firm. Within
that particular geographical area, the same firm will always submit the
winning construction bid, while other firms will submit complementary
bids to provide the appearance of a competitive process.142
Some collusion should be relatively easy to detect. First, the identity
of the winning bidder may provide evidence of anti-competitive bidding,
especially in territorial bidding schemes. Consider, for example, United
States v. Koppers Company, 143 in which two road tar suppliers divided
the state of Connecticut into two regions. From 1968 to 1974, all road
tar contracts in the western region were awarded to one company, while
all contracts in the eastern region were awarded to the other. Each
company submitted complementary bids in the other's region to maintain
the illusion of competitive bidding. But even when the scheme is not so
readily apparent-as when a rotation system is in effect-after it has
been in place for several years some discernable pattern regarding the
winning bidder's identity may well emerge.
The amount of the winning bids may also provide evidence of collusion.
In both rotation and territorial collusion, the winning bid is likely to be
consistently at or near the overbid price.144 If the bidding were truly
competitive ( i.e., if the outcome were not known before the contract was
actually awarded), the firms would submit the lowest possible bids ( i.e.,
bids that reflected each firm's performance costs plus a reasonable profit
margin). Thus, the winning bids would tend to be below the overbid
price.

Bid Rigging

Bid rigging is collusive conduct by qualified bidders to determine
privately who will win a public contract advertised for competitive bidding. Bid rigging has attracted more attention than any other law enforcement problem in the highway construction industry. Between 1979
and 1983 alone, more than 400 individuals or companies were convicted
of bid-rigging-related crimes.137 Indeed, in some regions of the country
bid rigging has been considered a way of life for decades.138
Bid rigging in the highway construction industry has proven to be
costly to the taxpayers. In Georgia, for example, road construction costs
averaged 10 percent above the state engineers' estimates. After a grand
jury investigation revealed widespread collusion in 1981, a number of
collusion rings were broken up by criminal prosecutions. Highway construction costs then dropped to 10 percent below the engineer estimates.139
Two forms of collusive bidding are prevalent in the highway construction industry. The first is a simple rotation system. Participants in the
bid-rigging scheme create a rotation for entire projects or specified parts
of projects. The firm whose turn it is to be awarded the bid will set its
bid at or below the overbid price, while the other participants will submit
higher, complementary bids. The "winning" bid may pass from firm to
firm either on a strict rotation basis or on the basis of firm size and

Civil RICO Implications

The collusive bidding practices described previously are characterized
by a number of features that suggest civil RICO implications. Both
forms of collusive bidding tend to be self-perpetuating. All who are in
the ring have a vested interest in its continued existence. It is unlikely
that ring members will voluntarily relinquish inflated profits in exchange
for competition on the merits.
Where bid rigging has become the rule rather than the exception, it
is more likely than not that new entrants into the market will also
participate. Even if a new entrant ( or a disgruntled ring member) would
prefer to bid honestly, members of the ring can be expected to close ranks
in an effort to pressure recalcitrant firms into participating in collusive
bidding. The ring may use any number of techniques, some coercive ( as,
for example threats to person or business)1 45 and some not ( as for
example, a bribe ).146 Thus, in a geographic region where collusive highway construction bidding is pervasive, it is difficult if not impossible for
an "outsider" to survive.
It is evident, then, that members of a collusion ring associate on a
continuing basis. They must remain in communication if they are to

know when and at what lev,el complementary bids should be made and
to police the occasional problematic firm . They may even conceal their
nefarious purposes under the guise of legitimate contractor associations.147
That different contractors may be interested in different projects and
thus do not bid on all of the projects does not undercut the unity of the
arrangement. Bid-rigging rings often take on the character of an "institutional" or "structural" conspiracy that provides a somewhat permanent mechanism for activating contractor;; imerested in particular
types of projects. 148
These features of collusive highway construction bidding cry out for
scrutiny under RICO. Although the possibilities for defining the RICO
enterprise are legion, the "natural" target is the ring itself. It is an
association of individuals and/ or organizations. By naming the ring as
the enterprise, all of the members-individuals and companies alike-may be named as def endants. They are "persons" who conduct or participate in the conduct of the enterprise through racketeering activity,
most notably through bribf:ry and mail and wire fraud. Because the
racketeering acts a:re r elated to a eommon goal, are on-going, and threaten
future criminal activity, they form a RICO pattern. Because the object
of bid rigging is to create the appearance of competitive bidding while
at the same time keeping the winr.ing bid artifieially high, the contracting
government entity that unwittingly pays too much is injured in its
property. Simply put, these facts add up to a civil RICO cause of action.
Illustration lOa: A group of contr actors forms an association through which they exchange bidding information and rotate winning bids among themselves. Members of the
association customarily meet the night before bids are submitted to determine the
winning and complementary bids. Some of the contractors are interested only in bidding
on state contracts, some only on county contracts, and still others on both. In consequence, not all of the contractors attend the same meetings.
When the state or a county apprc,ves a project, it invites potential bidders to write or
call to obtain the specifications. 'lhe contracting entity then mails the specifications to
interested parties. Once the contract is awarded, the governmental entity mails the
winning bidder the contract. Chec:ks representing project payments are similarly sent
through the mails. Once the checll:s are deposited, the banks also use the mails as part
of the clearing process.
The state or county could assert a RICO cause of action against the members of the
contractors' association. By naming the association the RICO enterprise, the plaintiff
avoids the § 1962( c) pitfall ( previously discussed) of naming as the enterprise a party
from whom recovery i:! sought. Thus, the members of the association may be named as
the persons who conducted its affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity. That
not all of the memberf: participatod in every bid rigging sch,eme is of no moment. They
were part of an on-going fraudulent sclleme that was conduc:ted through the guise of a
legitimate association, the enterp:rise.
In this illustration mail fraud con:ititutes the racketeering activity. The use of the mails
in the contracting process was clearly foreseeable, and members of the association caused
numerous mailings in furtherance of their scheme by requesting contract specifications,
by receiving inflated contract awards and payment for performance of those contracts,
and by depositing checks received in payment thereof.

The bidding ring may, but need not be, as formalized as the hypothetical contractors' association to implicate RICO.
Illu::tration 10b: In a locality where an infcrmal rotation bidding system is observed,
whe:oever a particular contractor needs a contract award to keep his business profitable,
the c:ontractor obtains from the county the list of contractors that have requested contract
specifications. The needy contractor then telephones the others, expla.ins his situation,
and ·asks them to submit complementary bids. If an occasional maverick cannot be
cajoled into submitting a complementary bid by friendly persuasion, the contractor who
"ne,ids" the contract pays the rival a bribe in exchange for his cooperation.
Assuming substantial continuity with respect to the identity of contractors who participat,e in this practice, this informal association of individuals and companies can constitute a RICO enterprise. As is true in Illustration 10a, numerous mailings will be
connected with the operation of the scheme so that mail fraud will constitute racketeering
activity through which the informal association is conducted. Additionally, if any of the
telephone calls are interstate calls ( including an intrastate call that the contractor does
not ]tnow is routed interstate), wire fraud may be named as racketeering activity. Also,
in a;idition, the periodic bribery of maverick contractors constitute commercial bribery.
If that species of bribery is a crime that is :punishable by more than one year in prison
in the jurisdiction in which it occu:rs, then bribery may be added to the list of predicate
crililes.

Illustrations 10a and 10b demonstrate how a contracting agency may
suffer harm by reason of a RICO violation and thus have standing to
sue . Although that is the most likely scenario, it is 'by no means the only
one.
Illm1tration 10c: Company A, a paving contractor, expands its business into Erehwon
Coullty, a market in which bidding on public projects has long been controlled by a bidrigging ring. After A enters the new market, the county invites bids for a new paving
project and Company A asks for tlte specifications. B, a member of the bid-rigging ring,
obtains a list of all contractors that have requested specifications and then calls a meeting
of the "Erehwon County Contractors Association" ( a.k.a. the bid-rigging ring) . The
Association decides which contractor will submit the winning bid and delegates to B
the task of persuading Company A to submit a complementary bid.
A r ,efuses to cooperate. Members of the Association threaten t o take turns at underbiddilllr the rogue firm until it goes under. A still refuses to cooperate. The Association
makes good its threat and drives A out of business. A has been injured in its business
by :reason of the RICO violation.

The preceding discussion and illustrations relate to bid-rigging
schemes that do not depend on the cooperation of a, corrupt public official
to succeed. The only c.orrupt parties are the colluding contractors. But
bid-rigging schemes may take a quite different form.
Illustration 10d: A, a cornpt county highway purchasing agent, has responsibility for
letting contracts to supply asphalt for a series of major pavi11g projects in the county.
All such contracts are required by law to be awarded to the lowest qualified bidder
through a competitive secret bidding process.. Under A's scheme, a predetermined bidder
will win a contract at the highest possible bid that is lower than bids submitted by
other contractors.
The scheme works as follows. The predetermined bidder secretly submits several pages
of bid prices in a sealed envelope instead of the required single page. A reads all of the
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competmg bids first and then announces the highest bid B submitted that was lower
than the competitors' bid prices. A then covertly throws the predetermined bidder's
other bid pages in the wastebasket. A receives $10,000 in exchange for rigging the
outcome.
In this illustration, there are several possible ways to define the enterprise. Although
courts frown on the practice of naming a governmental office as a RICO enterprise, the
county highway department nonetheless satisfies the definition of an enterprise. Alternatively, A ( the purchasing agent) and all of the contractors who participate in the
scheme may be named as an "association in fact" type of enterprise. The enterprise
( either the county highway office or the association of corrupt individuals) is being
conducted through a pattern of racketeering activity-here, a pattern of state bribery
offenses and, perhaps, mail fraud.
But of what significance is the submission of competitive bids in this case? The contracts
are in fact awarded to the lowest bidder, and not all of the other bidders need be corrupt.
Does that negate the existence of an injury to the county's business or property?
No. Notwithstanding that competitive bids were submitted, the county can still allege
the requisite injury caused by the RICO violation.
To illustrate, suppose that on one occasion B, the predetermmed bidder, submitted five
bid sheets cont&in.ing the following amounts: $64,000, $66,000, $66,000, $70,000, and
$85,000. The bids submitted by competitors were $86,900 and $89,000. A announces that
B is the lowest bidder and awards the contract for $85,000. The county has been injured
because B's lowest bid indicates that B would have been willing to perform the contract
for $64,000, yet the county has to pay an additional $21,000 because of the collusion.
Other Collusive Bidding Practices

Bid rigging is by far the most prevalent form of collusive bidding in
the highway construction industry and has the far greatest potential for
ripening into a civil RICO cause of action. Two other types of bidding
procedures that present opportunity for fraud-the tailor bid and the
discretionary award-should be briefly noted, however.
A tailor bid scheme is one in which a public official who defines the
qualifications that contractors must have to be eligible to bid adopts
criteria that only one contractor will satisfy. Although bidding officially
occurs, it is far from competitive.
Tailor bidding schemes arise out of state statutes specifying that public
works projects shall be awarded to '' the lowest responsible bidder.'' 149
This common statutory scheme vests in some public official the discretion
to determine who is a "responsible" bidder. The criteria for responsibility may relate to years of experience, financial stability, employment
of disadvantaged or minority workers, or specialized experience and
equipment needed to perform specialized tasks such as bridge building.
By manipulating these criteria, a bribed official can ensure that a particular contractor will be awarded the contract.
The same statutes that create the possibility of tailor bids may also
create the possibility of discretionary awards. That is, the statute may
not require that the contract be awarded to the lowest bidder. It may,
instead, authorize awarding it to a higher bidder who nonetheless submitted the "best bid." 'l'h:it, too, supplies both motive and opportunity
for bribery.
Although both tailor bid and discretionary award schemes may provide

a foundation for civil RICO liability, they do not as readily lend themselves to that theory of liability as does bid rigging. That is true partly
because these schemes are less likely to be on-going and, thus, to form
a pattern of criminal activity, and partly because they are more difficult
to detect. Notwithstanding obvious possibilities for fraud in both types
of contracting procedures, the legitimate reasons for requiring certain
qualifications or for awarding a: contract to one other than the lowest
bidder are legion. Thus, proving an improperly motivated decision may
be extremely difficult.
Another critical difficulty in formulating a civil RICO cause of action
in this context is the identification of a party who has suffered the
requisite injury to business or property by reason of the illegal conduct.
Although a government entity that pays an inflated amount in a discretionary award context will have suffered monetary harm, proof of injury
in the context of a tailor bid may be somewhat more problematic. Proof
that the contract did not require for its performance a contractor with
specialized equipment is not necessarily proof that awarding the project
to that contractor cost the government more.
The problem is compounded when a private party tries to formulate
a cause of action in these situations. When qualifications for bidding
are set so as to exclude potential bidders, the excluded parties can demonstrate the requisite injury only if they can establish a property right
in the contract that was awarded to another party. Similarly, when a
government official awards the project on the basis of the "best bid"
instead of the lowest bid, the lowest bidder is injured only if he has a
property interest in the contract before it was awarded.150
Federally Assisted Highway Projects

As a general rule, federal law requires competitive bidding for all
contracts to construct federal agency projects.151 The Federal-Aid Highway Act ( F AHWA) 152 similarly requires states to follow competitive
bidding practices for highway construction projects funded wholly or
partly by federal money. Although individual states may have their own
competitive bidding laws, a state must adhere to F AHWA bidding procedures when constructing federally assisted highway projects unless it
demonstrates that some other method is more cost effective.153
Federal participation in state highway construction projects is essentially a four part process. First, Congress authorizes the maximum
amount that the Secretary of Transportation may commit the federal
government to spend on federal aid highway contracts during the next
four fiscal years. The Federal Highway Administration then apportions
the authorized amounts among the states and issues certificates that
inform each state of the amount allocated to it. Subsequently, the states
prepare programs of projects for which they expect to seek federal
reimbursement and submit the programs for approval by the Federal
Highway Administration ( FHWA). After a program is approved and
it is determined that the state has complied with all applicable statutory
and regulatory requirements, the FHWA issues an authorization to
proceed with all or part of the project. With that step the federal gov-
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ernment becomes obligated to reimburse the states for the federal share
of a programmed project. 154 And it is at this point that the funds are
considered "expended," 155 ,even though no funds have yet been transferred to the states.
A key issue that is likely to arise when a highway construction project
is federally assisted is who is injured by reason of the violation. "When
bid-rigging activities result in the state's payment of an inflated price,
some of which will be reimbursed by the federal government, which of
the two entities--the state or the United States-has been injured by
reason of the unlawful conduct'i
Although the answer to this question is by no means clear, some guidance may be found in cases construing the False Claims Act 156 and the
Clayton Act. The first guiding principle is that the United States must
be injured in its business or property.
Illustration lla: A false claim is made to seek release o:f private property that the
government holds in the capacity of a bailee. Because the p:roperty belongs to a private
party, the government is not inj11red and has no cause of action. 157
Illustration llb: Individuals who rig bids for federal public works projects submit their
fraudulent bills to local government authorities. The fond fi-om which the bills are paid
contains both local and federal m,oney. The government has been injured and has a calllse
of action. 158

These examples are relatively clear cut. In Illustration lla, the government had no ri~al interest in the property. It was merely a custodian.
In Illustration llb, federal and state funds were commingled. Thus, a
claim against the account was a claim against the federal government
as well as the state.
"When the funds in question are Federal-Aid Highway Act grants, the
complexion of the problem changes. Consider, for example, the facts in
United States v. A.zzarelli. 159 In A.zzarelli, the State of Illinois brought
a treble damage action against the Azzarelli Construction Company alleging that the company's bid-rigging activities had resulted in its receipt
of two contract awards to construct public highways, in violation of the
Clayton Act. Both projects received 70 percent of their financing from
the Federal Highway Administration, with the state providing the remaining 30 percent.
"While the state's suit was still pending, the federal government leveled
the same allegations against Azzarelli in a sepa,rate suit for damages
under the Clayton Act and the False Claims Act. The government's theory
was that it suffered an inj1ury because the bid rigging resulted in the
construction of fewer highway miles. Illinois intervened and moved to
dismiss the federal government's suit, arguing that because the federal
funds were deemed expended once the projects were approved, the funds
against which the allegedly false claims were made were actually state
funds in federal custody. Illinois prevailed ir_ both the district court and
the court of appeals.
The Seventh Circuit found it necessary to distinguish federal contributions made under the Highway Act and those made under "open-

ended " federal aid programs like Medicaid. An open-ended program is
one in which the government's participation is based on a specifiedpropo:·tion of state program e:iq>enditures, and there is no fixed ceiling on
thE, total amount of funds that may be pent. Thus a Medicaid overcharge
directly injures the federal government because it results in the expenditu:re of federal funds that would not be spent but for the overcharge.160
Under the Federal-Aid Highway Act, in contrast, the government's
annual contribution to a state is a fixed sum. Although an overcharge
attributable to highway bid rigging may result in a state's expenditure
of more of its federal grant money on a particular project, it will not
a:ffoct the total amount of federal highway aid that the state receives.
Thus, in the court's view, the system under which ]!'ederal-Aid Highway
Act grants are awarded insulates the federal government from the overeharge.161 In consequence, Illinois paid the overcharges out of state,
not federal funds.
A.zzarelli, then, stands for the proposition that the state, not the
federal government, is entitled to recover overcharges on Federal-Aid
Highway Act projects. Thus, assuming arguendo that § 1964 provides
the federal government a RICO cause of action for treble damages,1 62
an action would not lie in the context of Federal-Aid Highway Act grants
because the United States is not the injured party.
]But that is not the end of the matter. "When the issue arises in a related
context-that of whether the government may recoup overcharges that
a state has recovered in a civil act.ion against bid riggers-the result
may be .different.
Tennessee v. Dole is one of the few examples of cases in which the
gmrernment has asserted recoupment rights in this context.163 The Dole
litigation was preceded by a federal bid-rigging prosecution of Tennessee
highway contractors that resulted in criminal conviction of some 70
individuals and firms. The state sued many of the same contractors,
settling some of the suits for around $12 million.
,~..lthough the Antitrust Division of the Justice Department maintained
that the government had not been injured in its property by reason of
the bid rigging and thus ha.d no interest in the state's recoveries,1 64 the
Federal Highway Administration asked the Tennessee Attorney General
for information that would enable FHWA to compute its pro rata share
of the amount the state had recovered.165 The FHWA proposed to reduce
the federal funding for Tennessee's current projects in an amount equal
to the federal share of the state's recovery in the civil litigation, but
then to restore the unprogra.mmed balance for future Tennessee highway
construction projects. 166
'When the Attorney General refused to supply the information, FHWA
unilaterally determined its share of Tennessee's civil recoveries ( more
than $4.5 million) and planned to deduct this amount from the highway
funds previously allocated to the state. Tennessee filed an action for
deelaratory and injunctive relief, and prevailed in the district court.
Relying upon State Highway Commissioner of Missouri v. Volpe, 167
the court concluded that absent express statutory authority, FHWA
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cannot withhold federal highway funds. Because Tennessee had complied
with federal requirements in awarding and supervising the project and
because the government could cite no other explicit statutory grounds
for withholding the funds, the government's proposed course of action
was wholly beyond its power, the court found.
The Sixth Circuit reversed, holding that the relationship between the
federal grantor and the grantee state is governed by the law of unjust
enrichment.168 The court found that the district court was "clearly mistaken" in concluding that the government could not recoup grant moneys
paid out through mistake.169 The federal share of the project costs was
anything but a no-strings-attached gift. The federal grant money could
only be used for approved construction projects under contracts awarded
as a result of honest and competitive bidding. The Tennessee settlements
were premised on the theory that, had the state and federal governments
known that the bid prices resulted from contractor collusion, the United
States would not have funded the projects nor would the state have
awarded the contracts. That being true, the federal share was paid to
the state by mistake and could be recouped under common law unjust
enrichment principles.
That the government was entitled to share the Tennessee settlements
was only the beginning, however. The amount to which it was entitled
could not be computed according to a rigid formula, for restitutionary
principles are flexible. They contemplate balancing the equities in each
case to determine precisely what constituted a "gain" to the enriched
party and to what extent its retention would be "unjust."
To what extent, for example, did the state's independent efforts and
expenditures contribute to its gain from the settlements? Surely the state
incurred costs in pursuing lawsuits against the bid riggers. And to what
extent should the amount the state is permitted to retain reflect the
desirability of providing an incentive to pursue bid riggers in the future?
Both state ani federal governments benefit alike when the state recovers
overcharges that represent federal and state shares of project costs.
Because "[t]he case was tried on an all-or-nothing basis-either the
State is entitled to keep all the bid rigger money recovered or the federal
officials are entitled to a full setoff and restitution of all of the federal
share initially paid on the projects- ,mo these and other related questions
could not be resolved on the present state of the record. The court thus
remanded the case, instructing the district court to balance the equities
before computing the amount the federal government was entitle to share.
Although Dole and Azzarelli are arguably inconsistent, the potential
conflict seems more apparent than real. The court in Azzarelli concluded
that the United States was not injured by the bid rigging and thus did
not have a cause of action for damages against the bid riggers. The
overcharges were paid out of funds belonging to the state. But the court
in Dole, while finding that the United States was entitled to share in the
state's recovery, did so on the ground that the state of Tennessee would
be unjustly enriched if it retained the full amount of the settlements.
Thws, the result in Dole is premised on considerations wholly unrelated
to those controlling in Azzarelli.

To permit the state to spend federal-aid highway money on a project,
then to recover the federal share of the excess payment and pocket the
proceeds, would be to permit the state to retain a windfall. The state
would either expend more federal money for construction projects than
had been authorized 171 or, as in Dole, divert some of the recovered federalaid highway funds to nonhighway purposes 172 in violation of federal
law. 173 To permit the federal government to recoup its share of the excess
payment would not, on the other hand, deprive the state of all use of
the funds, 174 because the government maintained that the amount recouped would be made available for use by the state in future years.175
BILLING AND PERFORMANCE FRAUD IN HIGHWAY CONTRACTS

When highway construction contracts are awarded fairly and without
interference from dishonest bidders or corrupt public officials, the bidding process tends to insulate the project from billing and performance
fraud. Because all proposed work and materials must be specified in the
bid, the contractor will not be paid for work not included in the bid.
.Although it is possible for a contractor to obtain authorization to perform
additional work, this usually requires an official change order approved
by the government. 176 If fraud were suspected, the government agency
responsible for the project would not approve the change order.
Notwithstanding the foregoing protections against billing and performance fraud inherent in the contracting process, that a project is bid
and awarded fairly does not guarantee that the project will remain free
from fraud and dishonesty.
Illustration 12a: A, a contractor who was awarded a contract to build a bridge, wants
to increase profits on the project by adding unnecessary but expensive structural support
at the strongest point in the span. A bribes B, the state highway engineer responsible
for monitoring the project, to persuade his superiors to approve the change order.
Illustration 12b: A, a bidder on a bridge project, includes a specified quantity of Grade
A concrete at a cost of $10 per ton in the bid. Although A cannot obtain Grade A concrete
for less than $11 per ton, A deliberately understates the cost to come in as the lowest
bidder. If awarded the contract, A intends to use Grade B concrete at a cost of only $8
per ton in the construction of the bridge.
A receives the contract and uses Grade B concrete. When the state highway engineer
responsible for monitoring the project calls that fact to A's attention, A bribes the
engineer to look the other way. When A bills the government, the statement includes
a charge for the Grade A concrete that was not used.

In Illustrations 12a and 12b, the government has been defrauded
through conduct constituting bribery and, in all likelihood, mail fraud.
.Although these constitute RICO predicate crimes, they are more likely
to be isolated or sporadic events rather than the ongoing criminal activities so obvious in bid-rigging rings. Thus, the odds that a plaintiff can
establish a "pattern" of racketeering activity that satisfies the criteria
the Supreme Court articulated in H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell are
relatively remote.

STATE RICO STATUTES

More than half of the states have enacted statutes that are patterned
after RICO. Although these state laws parallel the federal statute in
many respects, they also introduce myriad variations on the federal
regulatory theme. "While some of the variations are more restrictive than
the federal model, others are considerably more expansive. The text i:n
this section summarizes the major kinds of variations that will be found
in the state statutes. The t,e xt is amplified by a Table of State RICO
Laws that specifies the major components of each state RICO analog.
The table is included in the Appendix to this report.
Although most state RICO analogs require a pattern of unlawful
conduct, what constitutes a pattern differs from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. The most common variations increase the number of criminal
acts or incidents required and reduce the period of time during which
they must occur. A few jurisdictions forbid predicating civil liability
upon a pattern that consists solely of mail, wire, or securities fraud.
And, notably, a few dispense with the pattern requirement as a component
of civil liability. Thus, they create liability for harm caused by racketeering activity per se.
What constitutes racketeering activity also varies widely from state
to state, both in terms of the kinds of conduct covered and of the extraterritorial reach of the statute. The most notable common characteristic that state definitions of racketeering activity share is the inclusion
of bribery and other state crimes enumerated in § 1961( 1) as RICO
predicate offenses. But in some states the definitions go well beyond those
offenses to include other government-related offenses, state antitrust violations, illegal kickbacks, commercial bribery, fafae statements, schemes
to defraud, environmental and hazardous substances violations, and tbe
like.
Although some of the statutes apply only to racketeering activity
occurring within the jurisdiction and chargeablE, under its laws, many
statutes are extraterritorial in their reach. Some expressly incorporate
the federal predicate crimes enumerated in § 1961( 1) as state predicate
crimes. Some also designafo offenses occurring in other jurisdictions as
predicate crimes if they are equivalent to an o:ffimse punishable within
the home jurisdiction.
Although all of the state statutes incorporate the enterprise concept,
that is an optional element of the liability scheme in one jurisdiction.
Most definitions of the term "enterprise" closely parallel that in the
federal law, with the most common variants being specific inclusion of
licit and illicit organizations and of government entities as well.
State RICO liability is, in most instances, premised on conduct analogous to that prohibited in § 1962. The most common deviations are
elimination of the investment offense defined in § 1962( a) or the conspiracy offense defined in § 1962( d ).
Most but not all state RICO statutes authorize a private civil cause
of action. Those that do often track the federal statute and provide for
recovery of treble damages, costs, and attorneys' fees. But some contain
significant variations. On the expansive ide, some statutes authorize

treble damages and, when appropriate, punitive damages as well. Some
also pecifi.cally contemplate the provision of equitable relief in private
civil uits. In addition, some of the statutes do not limit the compensable
ha:rm to injury to business or property, as does the federal law.
Among the state pr,,visions that narrow the scope of civil liability the
most restrictive provide for recovery of actual damages only. Others
authorize recovery of double damages, and one makes the trebling of a
damage award discretionary with fae court.
-~lmost all of the little RICO laws authorize civil suits brought by the
state, most commonly to prevent, restrain, or remedy a violation. ~ few
permit the state to seek recovery of damages on behalf of an aggrieved
party ( or parties), and a few specify a maximum civil penalty that can
be recovered by the state.
:Several of the statutes address the burden of proof issue that remains
to be definitively resolved under federal law, with the evidentiary standard running the gamut from a preponderance of the evidence to clear
and convincing evidence.
FEDERAL CIVIL ENFORCEMENT POWERS

.A.part from the power to prosecute RICO violations criminally, the
federal government has considerable civil enforcement powers. The statute confers upon federal district courts jurisdiction to prevent and restrain RICO violations. 177 Included among the orders a court may issue
are: ( 1) an order to divest an interest in an enterprise; ( 2) an order
impo ing reasonable re trictions on the future activities of any individual
or organization; and ( 3) ordering the dissolution or reorganization of
an enterprise. The Attorney General is empowered to institute civil proceedings to invoke this broad remedial jurisdiction.
Prior to instituting civil or crimii:al judicial proceedings, the Attorney
General is authorized to issue a civil investigative demand to any person
or enterprise believed to po sess documentary materials that are relevant
to a racketeering investigation.' 78 .A.s is tTue under antitru t law the
ch'il investigative demand can be an important discovery tool in RI<?O
investigations in that it gives the government the power to ~ompel individuals and organizations to prGduce documentary material for examination in much the same manner as would a grand jury subpoena/10
Although the government's use of its civil enforcement powers is relatively rare, that it possesses those powers should ,not be discounted.
CONCLUSION

A.s this report illustrates, federal and state RICO laws are well adapted
to reach practices prevalent in the highway construction industry. Although the bidding process is the most vulnerable point, it is by no means
the only one.
It seems likely that the industry's exposure to civil RICO liability
will increase during the coming years. Despite strong criticism and strident debate over what some view as unprecedented and unintended
breadth of the federal statute, for example, Congress has not narrowed
th,~ scope of this powerful legislation. Indeed, while public attention has
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centered on legislative proposals to limit civil R:ICO li8;b~ty, Congr:es.s
has quietly but consistently broadened the basis 0£ crunmal and c1vil
liability during the last decade by adding new _offenses to the l_ist o£
predicate crimes. The most re~nt example of this can be found m the
Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act 0£ 1989
which adds financial institution fraud to the definition of racketeering
activity.180 Thus, the prospect of significant relief from Congress is questionable at best.
The Supreme Court's role in the dialogue should not be overlooked,
moreover. All 0£ the Court's RICO decisions liberally construe the statute. The Oourt has emphasized that if RICO is being put to unforeseen
or unintended uses, the remedy lies with Congress , not with the courts.
But as experience has shown, Congress is willing t o ent-ertain, but reluctant to enact , narrowing legislation.
.
.
And last the proliferation of state RICO stat utes ~ t m many mstances provide a broader base for liability may substantially. o~et any
gains RICO critics hope to win a t the ~ederal leve~. Thus, civil :8-ICO
actions will continue to occupy a prominent role m the resolution of
business disputes.
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Services, 847 F .2d 251, 254 ( 5th Cir. 1988 );°
Gordon v. Heimann 715 F.2d 531, 539
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APPENDIX A
Table of State RICO Laws

JURISDICTION

Arizona
ARIZ. REV.
STAT. ANN .
§§ 13-2301
through 13-2316

California
CAL. PENAL
CODE
§§ 186-186.8

ENTERPRISE

•

Optional.

X

RACKETEERING ACTIV1TY
STATE
EXTRATERRITORIAL

•

Any crime for flnancial gain ineluding bribery,
scheme, or artifice
to defraud, restraint of trade.

•

•

Includes licit & iilicit; government
entities.

Connecticut
Coirn. GEN.
STAT.
§§ 53-393
through 53-403

Includes licit & iilicit; government
entities.

•

Includes bribery,
gratuity, and related offunses.

CIVIL ACTION
STATE
PRIVATE*

•

•

X

X

•

•

•

X

X

•

Incorporates federal
predicate crimes under 18 U.S.C.
§ 1961(1).

§ 1962
ANALOG

•

•

Equivalent crimes
committed in another
state .

Includes any act
for financial gain
chargeable as bribery, conspir acy to
bribe.

Colorado
COLO.REV.
STAT.
§§ 18-17-101
through 18-17109

PATTERN

Excludes
§ 1962(d)
conspiracy
analog.

•

Proof by preponderance of
evidence.

X

•

Injunctive relief also authorized .
Proof by preponderance of
evidence.

•

•

Delaware
DEL. CODE ANN .
tit. 11,
§§ 1501-1511

Includes licit & iilicit; government
entities.

Florida
FLA. STAT.
§§ 895.01895.08)

Includes licit & iilicit; government
entities.

•

•

•

X

Includes bribery
and related offenses; hazardous
waste violations.

•

Includes bribery,
misuse of office,
and improper influence.

•

Includes bribery,
misuse of office.

Crimes occurring
within 5
years of
one another.

•

Incorporates federal
predicate crimes under 18 U.S.C.
§ 1961(1).

•

Incorporates federal
predicate crimes under 18 U.S.C. § 1961.

•

•

•

•

•

Not required for
civil action.

Crimes occurring
within 5
years of
one another.

X

X

Excludes
§ 1962(d)
conspiracy
analog.

•

Damages,
forfeiture,
and civil
penalty of
up to
$100,000
for each violation.

•

Treble damages, costs,
att'y fees
Proof by
clear & convincing evidence.

•

Treble damages, costs;
punitive damages when appropriate.

•

Any injury
compensable.
Treble damages [$200
minimum],
costs & att'y
fees; equitable
relief.
Proof by clear
& convincing
evidence .

Georgia
GA. CODE ANN .
§§ 16-14-1
through 16-1415)

Hawaii
HAW. REV.
STAT.
§§ 842-1 through
842-12

•

Includes licit & iilicit; government
entities.

•

•

Includes bribery.

•

Includes bribery.

•

Incorporates federal
predicate crimes under 18 U.S.C.
§ 1961(1); includes
equivalent crimes
committed in other
states.

X

•

Crimes occurring
within 4
years of
one another.

X

•

Excludes
§ 1962( a) investment analog.

•

Excludes
§ 1962(d)
conspiracy
analog; exeludes pattern
requirement.

•

•

Any injury
compensable.
Treble damages, cos ts &
att'y fees; punitive damages when
appropriate;
equitable relief .

•

•

Actual damages, costs &
att'y fees .
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JURISDICTION

ENTERPRISE

Idaho
IDAHO CODE
§§ 18-7801
through 18-7805

Includes licit & iilicit.

Indiana
IND.CODE
§§ 35-45-6-1
through 35-45-62; §§ 34-4-30.5-1
through 34-430.5-6

•
•

Includes government entities.

•

Minnesota
MINN. STAT.
§§ 609.901609.912

Includes licit.

Mississippi
Mrss. CODE
ANN.
§§ 97-43-1
through 97-43-11

Includes licit & iilicit; government
entities.

•

RACKETEERING ACTIVITY
EXTRATERRITORIAL
STATE

•

Includes fraud,
bribery, and corrupt influence.

•

Equivalent crimes
committed in other
jurisdictions.

•

X

•

X

•

X

Includes official
misconduct.

PATTERN

•

Crimes oc-

•

CIVIL ACTION
PRIVATE*
STATE

•

curring
within 5
years of
one another.

•

Crimes occurring
within 5
years of
one another.

•

Requires 3
or more
acts.

Includes fraud in
connection with
state or federally
funded assistance
programs.

§ 1962
ANALOG

•

Crimes oc-

•

Excludes
§ 1962(d)
conspiracy
analog.

•

Excludes
§ 1962(d)
conspiracy
analog.

•

•
•

•

Any injury
compensable.

•

Treble damages, costs &
att'y fees; punitive damages when
appropriate.
X

Civil penalty of up
to $1 million, costs
& att'y
fees).

•

curring
within 5
years of
one another.

•

Any injury
compensable;
treble damages, costs &
att'y fees; punitive damages when
appropriate;
equitabie relief.
Prior criminal
conviction required.

Nevada
NEY. REV.
STAT.
§§ 207.350
through 207 .520

New Jersey
N.J. REY. STAT.
§§ 20:41-1
through 20:41-6

•

Includes licit & iilicit; government
entities.

•

Includes licit & iilicit; government
entity.

•

X

Includes bribery.

•

X

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

X

Excludes

Prior crim-

§ 19G2(cl)

im.1.l convic-

conspiracy
analog.

tion
required.

•

Crimes occurring

within 5
years of
one another .

•

Includes bribery.

•

Incorporates federal
predicate crimes under 18 U.S.C.
§ 1961(1)(b),(d); ineludes equivalent
crimes committed in
~T!Y jn""isrliPtin.n.

New Mexico
N.M. STAT.
ANN.
§§ 30-42-1
through 30-42-6

New Yo·1k
N.Y. PENAL L.
§§ 460.00-460.80

North
Carolina
N.C. GEN. STAT.
§§ 75D-1
through 75D-4

•

Includes licit & iilicit.

•

•
Includes licit & iilicit; government
entities.

•

X

Includes bribery,
illegal kickbacks.

Crimes occurring
within 5
years of
one another.

•

•

Includes false
l:!fafan,onh,, h-..~bery, schemes to defraud,
environmental and
hazardous-substance crimes.

•
Includes bribery,

Requires 3
aets.

•
Incorporates federal
predicate crimes un-

der 18 U.S.C.
§ 1961(1).

•
Crimes occurring
within 4
years of
one another.

•
Excludes
§ 1962( a) investment analog.

X

•
Pattern must
not consist
solely of mail,
wire and securities fraud.

r-r
II

I
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,.JURISDICTION

North Dakota
N.D. CENT.
CODE
§§ 12.1-06.1-01
through 12.-106.1-08

Ohio
0HIOREV.
CODE ANN.
§§ 2931.312931.36

RACKETEERING ACTIVITY
EXTRATERRITORIAL
STATE

ENTERPRISE

•

Excludes individual.

•

Includes licit & iilicit; government
agency.

•

Act committed for
financial gain, ineluding bribery,
fraud, false claims.

•

Includes bribery.

•

Equivalent crimes
committed in another
state.

•

Incorporates federal
predicate crimes under 18 U.S.C.
§ 1961(1).

PATTERN

•

§ 1962
ANALOO

•

Excludes
§ 1962(d)

CIVIL ACTION
PRIVATE*
STATE

•

•

Any injury
compensable.

conspirac)~

analog.

•

Crimes occurring
within 6
years of
one another.

•

Excludes
§ 1962(d)
conspiracy
analog.

•

•

Any injury or
threatened injury compensable.
Equitable relief also authorized.
Proof by clear
& convincing
evidence.
Pattern must
not consist
solely of· mail,
wire, and
curities fraud.

se-

•

Oklahoma
OKLA. STAT.
ANN. tit. 22
§§ 1401-1419

Includes licit & iilicit; government
entities.

Oregon
OR. REV. STAT.
§§ 166.715166.735)

Includes licit & iilicit; government
entities.

•

•

X

•

Includes bribery,
abuse of public offlee, business &
commercial offim-

•

Incorporates federals
predicate crimes under 18 U.S.C.
§ 1961(1).

ses.

Pennsylvania
18 PA. CONS.
STAT.
§ 911
Rhode Island
R.I. GEN. LAWS
§§ 7-15-1
through 7-15-11

Utah
UTAH CODE
ANN.

§§ 76-10-1601
through 76-101608.

•
•
•

Includes licit & iilicit.

•

•

•

•

Crimes occurring
within 3
years of
one another .

Includes official
misconduct, fraud.

Crimes occurring
within 5
years of
one another.

•

X

•

•

X

X

Includes bribery &
corrupt influence.

Includes bribery

•

Includes bribery,
official misconduct,
false statements,
procurement oftenses.

•

•

Crimes occurring
within 5
years of
one an-

other.
Requires 3
acts.

•

Att'y fees
& costs recoverable.
Investigative agency
may recover
civil penalties not to
exceed
$250,000.

X

•

Any injury
compensable.
Punitive damages also authorized.

•

X

X

•

•

•

•

•

Excludes
§ 1962(d)
conspiracy
analog and
pattern requirement.

Incorporates federal
predicate crimes under § 1961(1).

•

Civil penalty not to
exceed
$100,000.

•

Any injury
compensable.
Double damages, costs &
att'y fees; equitable relief.
Arbitration
for fraud actions.
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JURISDICTION

Washington
WASH. REV.
CODE
§§ 9A.82.10119A.82.120,
§ 9A.82.904

ENTERPRISE

•

Includes licit & iilicit; government
entities.

RACKETEERING ACTIVITY
EXTRATERRITORIAL
STATE

•

Includes bribery.

•

Equivalent crimes
committed in another
state.

.§ 1962

PATTERN

•

Crimes occurring
within 5
years of
one another.

ANALOG

•

Excludes
§ 1962(c)
conduct
analog.

Requires 3
acts.

Wisconsin
Wis. STAT.
ANN.
§§ 94G.80-94G.87

•

Includes licit & iilicit; government
entities.

•

Includes bribery .

•

Incorporates federal
predicate crimes unifor § 1961( 1 ).

•

Crimes occurring
within 7
years of
one another.
Requires 3
acts .

• Unless a diffilrent measure of damages
the basic statutory measure of damages.

•

Excludes
§ 1962(d)
conspiracy
analog.

CIVIL ACTION
STATE
PRIVATE"

•

Civil penalty not to
exceed
$250,000 or
damages on
behalf of
injured
party;
costs; &
att'y fees.

•

•

Actual damages, costs &
att'y fees; discretionary treble damages.

•

Any injury
compensable.
Double damages, costs &
att'y fees; punitive damages also
authorized.

ua •pecified, • denotes treble damages, costs and attorneys' fees. Denoted punitive damages are in addition to

-
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APPLICATIONS
The foregoing research should be
informative to highway administrators
and others involved in the administration
of contracts and high way operations,

and it will prove to be most helpful
to the attorneys and investigators
involved in investigating and prosecuting criminal activity.
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